STUDY ON THE POTENTIAL ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS OF WIND FARM DEVELOPMENT IN AGALI, ATTAPPADI, KOTTATHARA AND NALLASINGAM AREAS OF PALAKKAD DISTRICT, KERALA

> REPORT SUBMITTED TO CWET, CHENNAI

Dr.Arun P R & Rajan. P

Sálim Ali Centre for Ornithology and Natural History (SACON) Anaikatty, Coimbatore-641 108

May 2014

ACON

STUDY ON THE POTENTIAL ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS OF WIND FARM DEVELOPMENT IN AGALI, ATTAPPADI, KOTTATHARA AND NALLASINGAM AREAS OF PALAKKAD DISTRICT, KERALA

REPORT SUBMITTED TO C W E T , CHENNAI



Dr. Arun PR & Rajan. P



Sálim Ali Centre for Ornithology and Natural History (SACON) Anaikatty, Coimbatore-641 108

May 2014

Contents

1	INTRODUCTION	1
2	ENVIRONMENTAL CONCERNS: A REVIEW	4
3	BACKGROUND	5
4	STUDY AREA	6
5	METHODS	8
6	RESULTS	9
	6.1 Possible impacts on landscape and vegetation	
7	CONCLUSION	
8	BIBLIOGRAPHY	

Figure 1. Installed capacity of Indian Power sectors as on 30-06-2012	. 2
Figure 2Renewable energy Scenario in India as on January 31, 2011	. 3
Figure 3. Location of the proposed area for the turbines	. 7
Figure 4. Closer view of the major locations proposed for the turbines (marked in red)	. 7
Figure 5. Natural vegetation types of Attapadi. Palakkad	. 8
Figure 6. Ficus trees in fruiting seen at some parts of the proposed turbine locations?	10
Figure 7. Landscape and topography changes as seen around existing turbines	1



1 INTRODUCTION

• he energy of blowing wind is an important source of renewable energy with significant potential in most parts of the world. The mounting costs and negative environmental impacts involved in the energy generation using conventional fuels (McLeish 2002) has made the wind energy a preferred important and fastest growing sector of the global energy industry (Pasqualettiet al. 2004). The conventional methods of power generation are known to cause varying degrees of negative environmental effects. Nuclear power plants causes thermal pollution in water-bodies and causes concern over radioactive waste disposal and its inherent risk potential for devastating impacts on environment in the events of leaks, accidents and natural calamities. Large hydro-electric facilities disrupt aquatic ecosystems and often submerge large areas of land, causing notable environmental concerns, including significant habitat loss for wild species and loss of agricultural lands apart from risks and safety concerns of the downstream areas of large dams. Meanwhile, the adverse effects of coal-fired Thermal power plants have caused the most concern among environmentalists, regulators and the general public. Coal's contribution to greenhouse gas emissions and air pollution has fuelled the need for increasingly explore nonconventional alternative sources for energy generation. Climate change can have major impacts on natural habitats, and the birds that are dependent upon them.

Around 8% of the total power generation in the country is contributed by renewable sector (Figure 1). Wind-generated electricity is renewable and generally considered environmentally clean, and recent technological advances and tax subsidies have made wind generation to compete with energy produced from fossil fuels and nuclear power (Gipe 1995; Redlinger *et al.* 2002). Harnessing wind energy is an affordable means of power generation that is pollution-free with relatively less-known environmental impacts. These advantages have led to a dramatic increase in its popularity in recent years and have resulted in the proliferation of wind farms around the world (Osborn *et al.* 2000).



In India, several wind farms are already operational and more are under development in those areas with wind resource is plentiful. Often, suitable areas occur in the offshore and coastal areas as well as along ridges and mountains in open agricultural areas and other open habitats. Unfortunately, many of these areas contain sensitive habitats especially for the avifauna, that could be under direct and indirect threats from the wind turbines, Hence it is important to duly evaluate the locations from the environmental point of view, before siting the wind energy projects.

The development of wind power in India began in the 1990s, and has significantly increased in the recent years. The worldwide installed capacity of wind power reached 197 GW by the end of 2010. China (44,733MW), US (40,180 MW), Germany (27,215 MW) and Spain (20,676 MW) are ahead of India, which is in fifth position. Wind power alone accounts for 6% of India's total installed power capacity, and is the major player in the country's renewable energy sector (Figure 1 & 2).



Figure 1. Installed capacity of Indian Power sectors as on 30-06-2012





Figure 2Renewable energy Scenario in India as on January 31, 2011



2 Environmental Concerns: A review

The development of wind-energy is not without its share of impacts on the environment. Considering the current pace and scale of wind power development proposals, combined with the lack of understanding of their environmental impacts, it is often a cause for concern. Of late, concerns have been raised by the public and regulators regarding the potential environmental impact of these facilities and in particular their potential cost of Wind power sector on birds. This issue first became apparent in the late 1980s when birds of prey, especially Red-tailed Hawks, American Kestrels and Golden Eagles were first noticed to be killed by wind turbines and their associated power lines at Altamont Pass and Tehachapi Pass, in California. The high numbers of raptors killed at these sites have proven to be more of an anomaly than a typical situation. Nevertheless, these well-known examples continue to spark concerns among the public and other organizations and, more than anything else, have generated widespread fears that turbines are invariably fatal to birds.

Bird fatalities caused by human-made infrastructures (power lines, communication towers, wind turbines) are widely reported from around the world (Erickson *et al.* 2005; Manville 2009). Wind farms affect birds mainly through collision with turbines and associated power lines (Drewitt & Langston 2006; Lekuona & Ursua 2007; Thelander & Smallwood, 2007) or disturbance displacement (Drewitt & Langston, 2006). Observed impacts vary geographically due to varying topography, habitat, weather conditions, flyways, species diversity and species abundance (GAO 2005). Some recent studies suggest insignificant threats to wildlife from commercial wind-generated electricity relative to other anthropogenic structures (such as buildings and automobiles) and energy sources (NRC 2007; Sovacool 2009). However, potential cumulative impacts of current and future wind developments remain largely unknown. Considering that the number of wind turbines has more than doubled since 2005, and is expected to continue to increase in future years (WWEA 2009), there are concerns on environmental impacts, especially on birds, bats and their habitats.

Bird fatalities associated with wind turbines are more significant when endangered or protected species of higher conservation priorities are involved, due to their small,



fragmented and isolated populations. With a few important exceptions from Europe and America, studies so far has shown low numbers of bird fatalities at wind energy facilities elsewhere (Osborn et al. 2000; Erickson et al. 2001; Jain 2005). The impact of wind farms on birds and bats from the Indian context is very less studied with very little scientific literature available on this topic(Kumar *et al.* 2012). The observed mortality caused by wind energy facilities is regarded very low compared to other existing sources of human-caused avian mortality. Based on 15,000 American wind turbines in operation, and a mortality of 2.19 birds per turbine per year, Erickson *et al.* (2001) estimated that 33,000 birds are killed each year by wind turbines in the U.S.A.

While bats are able to detect the relatively slow and gradual pressure changes caused by approaching storms etc, they are reportedly unable to detect the sudden drops in pressure caused by a wind turbine. These sudden pressure changes can cause rapid expansion of the lungs of the bats leading to bursting of the fine capillaries in their lungs, and ultimately causing their death. This phenomenon is known as 'barotrauma' (Handwerk 2008). Several studies have reported negative impacts of wind turbines on bats. Bat fatalities at wind turbines were an unanticipated and unprecedented phenomenon. The most important problems are bat collision, *barotrauma*, loss of foraging habitat, barrier effect of commuting routes and emission of ultrasound by wind turbines. Wind turbines cause local changes in air pressure.

Earlier wind farm studies found that, in comparison to birds, bat collisions with wind towers appeared to be rare (Orloff & Flannery 1992; Howell 1997). The first reported mortality of bat species occurred at early generation wind turbines in Australia. Hall & Richards (1972) reported 22 White-striped Mastiff Bat *Tadarida australis* mortalities over a four-year studyperiod. Interest in impacts of wind energy development on bat species has increased in recent years (Arnett 2006; Fiedler *et al.* 2007).

3 Background

The present rapid study of one month duration was taken up by SACON for Centre for Wind Energy Technology (CWET), Chennai to look into the environmental impacts of the proposed wind farm development in Agali, Attappadi, Kottathara and Nallasingam



areas of Palakkad district, Kerala by NHPC as a part of the DPR. The scope of the present study was a rapid assessment of the impact potential on Birds, Bats and other aspects of Biodiversity if any from the proposed wind power project primarily from the available secondary information.

4 Study area

The proposed locations are situated in the Attappady region of Palakkad District among the Western Ghats. Attappadi area lies in the foothills of Nilgiris in the Mannarghat Forest Division of Kerala in the Western Ghats. Attappadi Reserve Forest is about 249 sq.km covering western-most part of the approximately 745 km² in Attappadi Block of Mannarkkad Taluka of Palakkad district of Kerala. The area has been cleared of natural vegetation in the past and mostly has settlements and cultivation on the hills.

The area is important in being close to the 'Palghat Gap', the only major discontinuity in the 1600 km long Western Ghats mountain range that is well known as one among the biodiversity hotspots of the world and harbour about 30% of the India's biodiversity (Rodgers and Panwar, 1988).

Attappadi is an extensive mountain valley and it is bordered in east by Coimbatore district, on the North by The Nilgiris, south by the Palghat taluk and on the west by Karimba-I and II, Pottassery-I and II, and Mannarghat revenue villages of Mannarghat taluk of Palghat District and Ernad taluk of Malappuram district. Also, Attappadi is an informal buffer zone adjoining the Silent valley National Park to the west.





Figure 3. Location of the proposed area for the turbines (Approximate location of Major proposed Eco sensitive (ESZ) areas of Western Ghats of Tamilnadu according to Gadgil & Kasturirangan reports are also shown as shaded areas).



Figure 4. Closer view of the major locations proposed for the turbines (marked in red) Elevation ranges from 750 m to 1664 mat Malleswarm peak. The Bhavani river flows from the Northwest around the mountain. Attappadi Reserve Forest receives a high rainfall of 4700 mm moving eastward towards Agali the rainfall steadily decreases to a low of 900 mm. The vegetation of the study site was covered with varieties of natural Study on the Potential Environmental Impacts of Wind Farm Development... Page-7



vegetation patches such as Shola forest, Evergreen forest, Semi-evergreen forest, Moist deciduous forest, Dry deciduous forest and Grassland. Majority of the places covered with Dry deciduous forest. However the proposed area for windmill area covered mainly with Evergreen, Moist Deciduous, Dry Deciduous, Grasslands and Shola forests.



Figure 5. Natural vegetation types of Attapadi. Palakkad (Source: Vijayan et al. 2008)

The broad location of the wind turbines being proposed in Agali, Attappadi, Kottathara and Nallasingam areas of Palakkad District is given in the Figure 3 & 4.

There are operational turbines already existing in the area.

5 Methods

A rapid survey of the proposed turbine sites of the Agali, Attappadi, Kottathara and Nallasingam areas of Palakkad district, Kerala was conducted along with CWET. This report is mainly based on available secondary information. Systematic primary data was not collected because of the short duration (one month) of this project. But



Page-9

investigation surveys were conducted and opportunistic observations were recorded. In the past, SACON has worked in these areas. The "Biodiversity assessment of Attappadi" is a significant work (Vijayan. *et al.* 2008). However, many of the available works from this region consist of "grey literature", reports and other pieces of work that are not peer reviewed publications. The cited reports have been critically examined and used to make compiled list of species of the study site.

Compilation of available scientific information relevant to the present study has been done. One of the main areas of concern is the potential impact of wind farms on birds and bats. The Avifaunal information compiled is given in the Appendix 1. Potential avifaunal impact from collision mortality, displacement, barrier and deterrent effects and direct habitat loss from the farms will have to be evaluated case by case in detail may be at later stage by an year round study.

6 Results

The impact of wind turbines on birds and bats has been studied widely and showed evidence of bat and birds deaths from collisions with wind turbines and due to changes in air pressure around the rotating turbines as well as from habitat loss due to windmill construction work. In each windmill construction work, there are many secondary associated sources of impacts such as road construction, power evacuation lines, transformer placing, etc.

The Bird collision is mostly seasonal. Local as well as migratory birds are can get impacted due to their daily movements around the turbines. In Attappady area, there are many fruiting plants especially *Ficus spp* available. These fruiting trees attract birds from neighboring places. These movements also can cause the bird collision at wind turbines, hence locations close to such areas may be avoided while siting the turbines.





Figure 6. Ficus trees in fruiting seen at some parts of the proposed turbine locations (May cause an increased risk of bird movements in some of the turbine sites).

A total of about 152 species of birds were reported so far from Attappadi Hills which includes 15 endemic species out of 24 in Western Ghats (Vijayan *et al.*2008). According to Vijayan et al., (2008) Sholayoor areas have more bird diversity as compared to the Agali and Kottathara due to presence of intensive evergreen patches in Sholayoor area. Forest patches of Sholayoor area have more priority for conservation. Attappadi is considered as an informal buffer zone bordering the Silent valley National Park and chances of wildlife movements will be high due to patchily distributed forest around Attappadi. Nilgiri Wood-Pigeon *Columba elphinstonii* is a Vulnerable species globally threatened species reported from this area (sholayoor) importance to the area.

According to Drewitt and Langston (2006), the four main effects of windmills are collision, displacement due to disturbance, barrier effects and habitat loss. Collision risk depends on the bird species, numbers and behaviour, weather conditions and topography of the area. Research shows that, there are many impacts on windmill on bird populations such as bird mortality, changes in migration route, avoidance of bird activities from windmill area (Drewitt and Langston 2006).

6.1 Possible impacts on landscape and vegetation

Landscape changes are expected during the wind farm development. The impact would vary depending on the terrain and number of windmills. All wind mills in the proposed study site of Attappadi area are on undulating terrain. The scale of habitat destruction depend on the characteristics of the landscape and vegetation cover. Road construction, turbine construction, installation of electrical substations transmission lines, etc will be



changing the topography of the wind farm site. The roads required to establish connectivity among the turbine sites would cause notable environmental impacts. This could be minimized by avoiding natural vegetation and minimizing the length of the roads through proper holistic planning including existing turbines and connecting roads as well.



Figure 7. Landscape and topography changes as seen around existing turbines There are existing operational turbines existing in these areas which are also being considered for evaluating the impacts if any in the local context. The compilation of this information is also under way to better understand and suggest management strategies if required for the proposed turbines. The detailed Map of the area with distance to closest sensitive areas such as protected areas is also under preparation.

7 Conclusion

Currently, the available information may not be sufficient enough to conclude on the exact magnitude and nature of impacts of wind farm on wildlife, however, the proposed areas of Agali, Attappadi, Kottathara and Nallasingam of Palakkad District are mostly revenue/ agricultural lands with no sensitive flora/ fauna/ wildlife habitat of conservation importance involved, only minimal impact is expected from the proposed project.

Although there are some reports (Telegraph 2014) there is very little information available on the bat collision with wind turbine and bat mortality from India. There are also apprehensions that the ultrasonic sound from the moving blades of wind turbines can interfere with movement of eco-locating bats. Preliminary results



from the SACON's ongoing research in Gujarat and Karnataka had indicated that there is no significant risk to the avifauna from the collision with wind turbines. However, wind power being a relatively new and emerging sector of power generation, long-term scientific studies to address the lacunae in our current scientific knowledge regarding the impact of wind farms on the environment are required for better management of the wind power sector in the future.



Sl No.	Common Name	Scientific Name	Family	IUCN Status
1	Grey Francolin	Francolinus pondicerianus	Phasianidae	LC
2	Jungle Bush-quail	Perdicula asiatica	Phasianidae	LC
3	Red Spurfowl	Galloperdix spadicea	Phasianidae	LC
4	Grey Junglefowl	Gallus sonneratii	Phasianidae	LC
5	Indian Peafowl	Pavo cristatus	Phasianidae	LC
6	Little Grebe	Tachybaptus ruficollis	Podicipedidae	LC
7	Indian Pond-heron	Ardeola grayii	Ardeidae	LC
8	Cattle Egret	Bubulcus ibis	Ardeidae	LC
9	Little Egret	Egretta garzetta	Ardeidae	LC
10	Little Cormorant	Phalacrocorax niger	Phalacrocoracidae	LC
11	Common Kestrel	Falco tinnunculus	Falconidae	LC
12	Black-winged Kite	Elanus caeruleus	Accipitridae	LC
13	Black Kite	Milvus migrans	Accipitridae	LC
14	Brahminy Kite	Haliastur indus	Accipitridae	LC
15	Crested Serpent-eagle	Spilornis cheela	Accipitridae	LC
16	Montagu's Harrier	Circus pygargus	Accipitridae	LC
17	Shikra	Accipiter badius	Accipitridae	LC
18	Black Eagle	Ictinaetus malayensis	Accipitridae	LC
19	White-breasted Waterhen	Amaurornis phoenicurus	Rallidae	LC
20	Red-wattled Lapwing	Vanellus indicus	Charadriidae	LC
21	Rock Pigeon	Columba livia	Columbidae	LC
22	Laughing Dove	Stigmatopelia senegalensis	Columbidae	LC
23	Spotted Dove	Stigmatopelia chinensis	Columbidae	LC
24	Nilgiri Wood-pigeon	Columba elphinstonii	Columbidae	VU
25	Eurasian Collared-dove	Streptopelia decaocto	Columbidae	LC
26	Emerald Dove	Chalcophaps indica	Columbidae	LC
27	Pompadour Green-pigeon	Treron pompadora	Columbidae	LC
28	Yellow-footed Green-pigeon	Treron phoenicopterus	Columbidae	LC
29	Mountain Imperial-pigeon	Ducula badia	Columbidae	LC
30	Vernal Hanging-parrot	Loriculus vernalis	Psittacidae	LC

Appendix 1: List of birds reported from the area

Study on the Potential Environmental Impacts of Wind Farm Development...

Page-13



Sl No.	Common Name	Scientific Name	Family	IUCN Status
31	Rose-ringed Parakeet	Psittacula krameri	Psittacidae	LC
32	Plum-headed Parakeet	Psittacula cyanocephala	Psittacidae	LC
33	Malabar Parakeet	Psittacula columboides	Psittacidae	LC
34	Pied Cuckoo	Clamator jacobinus	Cuculidae	LC
35	Asian Koel	Eudynamys scolopaceus	Cuculidae	LC
36	Sirkeer Malkoha	Phaenicophaeus leschenaultii	Cuculidae	LC
37	Common Hawk-cuckoo	Cuculus varius	Cuculidae	LC
38	Blue-faced Malkoha	Phaenicophaeus viridirostris	Cuculidae	LC
39	Greater Coucal	Centropus sinensis	Cuculidae	LC
40	Oriental Scops-owl	Otus sunia	Strigidae	LC
41	Brown Fish-owl	Ketupa zeylonensis	Strigidae	LC
42	Spotted Owlet	Athene brama	Strigidae	LC
43	Grey Nightjar	Caprimulgus indicus	Caprimulgidae	LC
44	Indian Nightjar	Caprimulgus asiaticus	Caprimulgidae	LC
45	Little Swift	Apus affinis	Apodidae	LC
46	Malabar Trogon	Harpactes fasciatus	Trogonidae	LC
47	Indian Roller	Coracias benghalensis	Coraciidae	LC
48	White-throated Kingfisher	Halcyon smyrnensis	Alcedinidae	LC
49	Pied Kingfisher	Ceryle rudis	Alcedinidae	LC
50	Little Green Bee-eater	Merops orientalis	Meropidae	LC
51	Chestnut-headed Bee-eater	Merops leschenaulti	Meropidae	LC
52	Eurasian Hoopoe	Upupa epops	Upupidae	LC
53	Malabar Grey Hornbill	Ocyceros griseus	Bucerotidae	LC
54	Brown-headed Barbet	Megalaima zeylanica	Ramphastidae	LC
55	White-cheeked Barbet	Megalaima viridis	Ramphastidae	LC
56	Crimson-fronted Barbet	Megalaima rubricapillus	Ramphastidae	LC
57	Speckled Piculet	Picumnus innominatus	Picidae	LC
58	Brown-capped Woodpecker	Dendrocopos nanus	Picidae	LC
59	White-bellied Woodpecker	Dryocopus javensis	Picidae	LC
60	Yellow-crowned Woodpecker	Dendrocopos mahrattensis	Picidae	LC

Study on the Potential Environmental Impacts of Wind Farm Development...



Sl No.	Common Name	Scientific Name	Family	IUCN Status
61	Common Flameback	Dinopium javanense	Picidae	LC
62	Black-rumped Flameback	Dinopium benghalense	Picidae	LC
63	Rufous Woodpecker	Celeus brachyurus	Picidae	LC
64	Heart-spotted Woodpecker	Hemicircus canente	Picidae	LC
65	Indian Pitta	Pitta brachyura	Pittidae	LC
66	Common Iora	Aegithina tiphia	Aegithinidae	LC
67	Rosy Minivet	Pericrocotus roseus	Campephagidae	LC
68	Scarlet Minivet	Pericrocotus flammeus	Campephagidae	LC
69	Bar-winged Flycatcher-shrike	Hemipus picatus	Campephagidae	LC
70	Bay-backed Shrike	Lanius vittatus	Laniidae	LC
71	Long-tailed Shrike	Lanius schach	Laniidae	LC
72	Great Grey Shrike	Lanius excubitor	Laniidae	LC
73	Eurasian Golden Oriole	Oriolus oriolus	Oriolidae	LC
74	Black-naped Oriole	Oriolus chinensis	Oriolidae	LC
75	Fork-tailed Drongo	Dicrurus adsimilis	Dicruridae	LC
76	Ashy Drongo	Dicrurus leucophaeus	Dicruridae	LC
77	White-bellied Drongo	Dicrurus caerulescens	Dicruridae	LC
78	Bronzed Drongo	Dicrurus aeneus	Dicruridae	LC
79	Greater Racket-tailed Drongo	Dicrurus paradiseus	Dicruridae	LC
80	White-browed Fantail	Rhipidura aureola	Rhipiduridae	LC
81	Asian Paradise-flycatcher	Terpsiphone paradisi	Monarchidae	LC
82	Rufous Treepie	Dendrocitta vagabunda	Corvidae	LC
83	White-bellied Treepie	Dendrocitta leucogastra	Corvidae	LC
84	House Crow	Corvus splendens	Corvidae	LC
85	Large-billed Crow	Corvus macrorhynchos	Corvidae	LC
86	Great Tit	Parus major	Paridae	LC
87	Red-rumped Swallow	Hirundo daurica	Hirundinidae	LC
88	Plain Prinia	Prinia inornata	Cisticolidae	LC
89	Black-crested Bulbul	Pycnonotus melanicterus	Pycnonotidae	LC
90	Red-whiskered Bulbul	Pycnonotus jocosus	Pycnonotidae	LC

Study on the Potential Environmental Impacts of Wind Farm Development...



Sl No.	Common Name	Scientific Name	Family	IUCN Status
91	Red-vented Bulbul	Pycnonotus cafer	Pycnonotidae	LC
92	White-browed Bulbul	Pycnonotus luteolus	Pycnonotidae	LC
93	Yellow-browed Bulbul	Iole indica	Pycnonotidae	LC
94	Asian Black Bulbul	Hypsipetes leucocephalus	Pycnonotidae	LC
95	Common Tailorbird	Orthotomus sutorius	Sylviidae	LC
96	Blyth's Reed-warbler	Acrocephalus dumetorum	Sylviidae	LC
97	Tickell's Leaf-warbler	Phylloscopus affinis	Sylviidae	LC
98	Greenish Warbler	Phylloscopus trochiloides	Sylviidae	LC
99	Large-billed Leaf-warbler	Phylloscopus magnirostris	Sylviidae	LC
100	Puff-throated Babbler	Pellorneum ruficeps	Timaliidae	LC
101	White-browed Scimitar-babbler	Pomatorhinus schisticeps	Timaliidae	LC
102	Yellow-eyed Babbler	Chrysomma sinense	Timaliidae	LC
103	Common Babbler	Turdoides caudata	Timaliidae	LC
104	Rufous Babbler	Turdoides subrufa	Timaliidae	LC
105	Jungle Babbler	Turdoides striata	Timaliidae	LC
106	Wynaad Laughingthrush	Garrulax delesserti	Timaliidae	LC
107	Brown-cheeked Fulvetta	Alcippe poioicephala	Timaliidae	LC
108	Oriental White-eye	Zosterops palpebrosus	Zosteropidae	LC
109	Asian Fairy-bluebird	Irena puella	Irenidae	LC
110	Velvet-fronted Nuthatch	Sitta frontalis	Sittidae	LC
111	Hill Myna	Gracula religiosa	Sturnidae	LC
112	Common Myna	Acridotheres tristis	Sturnidae	LC
113	Jungle Myna	Acridotheres fuscus	Sturnidae	LC
114	Brahminy Starling	Sturnus pagodarum	Sturnidae	LC
115	Malabar Whistling-thrush	Myophonus horsfieldii	Turdidae	LC
116	Oriental Magpie-robin	Copsychus saularis	Muscicapidae	LC
117	Indian Robin	Saxicoloides fulicatus	Muscicapidae	LC
118	Pied Bushchat	Saxicola caprata	Muscicapidae	LC
119	Blue Rock-thrush	Monticola solitarius	Muscicapidae	LC
120	Asian Brown Flycatcher	Muscicapa dauurica	Muscicapidae	LC



Sl No.	Common Name	Scientific Name	Family	IUCN Status
121	Rusty-tailed Flycatcher	Muscicapa ruficauda	Muscicapidae	LC
122	Little Pied Flycatcher	Ficedula westermanni	Muscicapidae	LC
123	Slaty-blue Flycatcher	Ficedula tricolor	Muscicapidae	LC
124	Black-and-rufous Flycatcher	Ficedula nigrorufa	Muscicapidae	NT
125	White-bellied Blue-flycatcher	Cyornis pallipes	Muscicapidae	LC
126	Tickell's Blue-flycatcher	Cyornis tickelliae	Muscicapidae	LC
127	Grey-headed Canary-flycatcher	Culicicapa ceylonensis	Muscicapidae	LC
128	Blue-winged Leafbird	Chloropsis cochinchinensis	Chloropseidae	LC
129	Golden-fronted Leafbird	Chloropsis aurifrons	Chloropseidae	LC
130	Thick-billed Flowerpecker	Dicaeum agile	Dicaeidae	LC
131	Pale-billed Flowerpecker	Dicaeum erythrorhynchos	Dicaeidae	LC
132	Plain Flowerpecker	Dicaeum concolor	Dicaeidae	LC
133	Purple-rumped Sunbird	Nectarinia zeylonica	Nectariniidae	LC
134	Crimson-backed Sunbird	Nectarinia minima	Nectariniidae	LC
135	Long-billed Sunbird	Nectarinia lotenia	Nectariniidae	LC
136	House Sparrow	Passer domesticus	Passeridae	LC
137	White-throated Munia	Lonchura malabarica	Estrildidae	LC
138	Scaly-breasted Munia	Lonchura punctulata	Estrildidae	LC
139	Paddyfield Pipit	Anthus rufulus	Motacillidae	LC
140	Common Rosefinch	Carpodacus erythrinus	Fringillidae	LC





Plate I View of existing turbines and some of the birds recorded during the opportunistic observations



8 Bibliography

- Adams AM, Jantzen MK, Hamilton RM and Fenton MB (2012) Do you hear what I hear? Implications of detector selection for acoustic monitoring of bats. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*. Available at: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.2041-210X.2012.00244.x/full (accessed 21/02/13).
- Andavan LM, Sunderraj SF. and Joshua J Bat Colony in and around the Kodinar Taluka of Junagadh district, Gujarat State. *of great interest*...
- Anon Addendum to the Phase I Avian Risk Assessment for the Flat Rock Wind Power Project, Lewis County, New York: Phase One and Phase Two. Available at: http://www.powernaturally.org/about/documents/fr%20deis%20app%20f%20avian%20 add%20rpt%20120303.pdf.
- Anon Why Bats Need a 'Happy Hour' and Swedes Try to Comply. *TreeHugger*. Available at: http://www.treehugger.com/endangered-species/why-bats-need-happy-hour-and-swedes-try-comply.html (accessed 08/02/12b).
- Anon Wind turbines no obstacle to development of important bird area. Available at: http://www.avitec.dk/publ/sneum2011.pdf.
- Arnett EB, Brown WK, Erickson WP, Fiedler JK, Hamilton BL, Henry TH, Jain A, Johnson GD, Kerns J, Koford RR, Nicholson CP, O'Connell TJ, Piorkowski MD and Tankersley RD (2008) Patterns of Bat Fatalities at Wind Energy Facilities in North America. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*. 72 (1), 61–78.
- Baerwald EF, D'Amours GH, Klug BJ and Barclay RM. (2008) Barotrauma is a significant cause of bat fatalities at wind turbines. *Current Biology*. 18 (16), R695–R696.
- Ball LC (2002) A Strategy for Describing and Monitoring Bat Habitat. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*. 66 (4), 1148–1153.
- Barclay RMRBRM., Baerwald EFBE. and Gruver JCGJ. (2007) Variation in bat and bird fatalities at wind energy facilities: assessing the effects of rotor size and tower height. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*. 85 (3), 381–387.
- Bastos R, Santos M and Cabral JA (2013) A new stochastic dynamic tool to improve the accuracy of mortality estimates for bats killed at wind farms. *Ecological Indicators*. 34, 428–440.
- Bernardino J, Bispo R, Costa H and Mascarenhas M (2013) Estimating bird and bat fatality at wind farms: a practical overview of estimators, their assumptions and limitations. *New Zealand Journal of Zoology*. 40 (1), 63–74.
- BNHS (2013) Review of existing global guidelines, policies, and methodologies for the study of impact of windmills on birds and bats: requirements in India. *Buceros: ENVIS Newsletter Avian Ecology & Inland Wetlands.* 18 (1-2).
- Bohrer G, Zhu K, Jones RL and Curtis PS (2013) Optimizing Wind Power Generation while Minimizing Wildlife Impacts in an Urban Area. *PLoS ONE*. 8 (2), e56036.
- Bull LS, Fuller S and Sim D (2013) Post-construction avian mortality monitoring at Project West Wind. *New Zealand Journal of Zoology*. 40 (1), 28–46.
- Camphuysen CJ, Fox AD, Leopold MF and Petersen IK (2003) Towards standardised seabirds at sea census techniques in connection with environmental impact assessments for offshore wind farms in the UK A Comparison of Ship and Aerial Sampling Methods for Marine Birds, and Their Applicability to Offshore Wind Farm Assessments. *Den Burg*.



- Chang T, Nielsen E, Auberle W and Solop FI (2012) A quantitative method to analyze the quality of EIA information in wind energy development and avian/bat assessments. *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0195925512000741 (accessed 26/12/13).
- Chang T, Nielsen E, Auberle W and Solop FI (2012) A quantitative method to analyze the quality of EIA information in wind energy development and avian/bat assessments. *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0195925512000741 (accessed 16/01/13).
- Crespo A, Hernandez J and Frandsen S (1999) Survey of modelling methods for wind turbine wakes and wind farms. *Wind energy*. 2 (1), 1–24.
- Cryan PM (2008) Mating Behavior as a Possible Cause of Bat Fatalities at Wind Turbines. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*. 72 (3), 845–849.
- Desholm M (2003) Thermal Animal Detection System (TADS): development of a method for estimating collision frequency of migrating birds at offshore wind turbines. National Environmental Research Institute
- Desholm M and Kahlert J (2005) Avian collision risk at an offshore wind farm. *Biology Letters*. 1 (3), 296.
- Dirksen S, Spaans AL and Van der Winden J (1998) Nocturnal collisions risks of birds with wind turbines in tidal and semi-offshore areas. In: *Wind energy and landscape:* proceedings of the International Workshop on Wind Energy and Landscape-WEL/Genova/Italy/26-27 June 1997. 99.
- Drewitt AL and Langston RH. (2006) Assessing the impacts of wind farms on birds. *Ibis*. 148, 29–42.
- Drewitt AL and Langston RH. (2008) Collision Effects of Wind-power Generators and Other Obstacles on Birds. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*. 1134 (1), 233–266.
- Erickson WP, Johnson G, Young D, Strickland D, Good R, Bourassa M, Bay K and Sernka K (2002) Synthesis and Comparison of Baseline Avian and Bat Use, Raptor Nesting and Mortality Information from Proposed and Existing Wind Developments: Final. WEST, Incorporated Available at: http://www.bpa.gov/power/pgc/wind/Avian_and_Bat_Study_12-2002.pdf (accessed 30/05/13).
- Erickson WP, Johnson GD, Strickland MD, Young Jr DP, Sernka KJ and Good RE (2001) Avian collisions with wind turbines: a summary of existing studies and comparisons to other sources of avian collision mortality in the United States. RESOLVE, Inc.(US)
- Everaert J and Stienen EW. (2008) Impact of wind turbines on birds in Zeebrugge (Belgium). *Biodiversity and Conservation in Europe*, 103–117.
- EXISTING ONBA. and SITES PW. (1999) Studying Wind Energy- Bird Interactions: A Guidance Document.
- Exo KM, H\üppop O and Garthe S (2003) Birds and offshore wind farms: a hot topic in marine ecology. *Wader Study Group Bulletin*. 100 (1), 50–53.
- Farfán MA, Vargas JM, Duarte J and Real R (2009) What is the impact of wind farms on birds? A case study in southern Spain. *Biodiversity and Conservation*. 18 (14), 3743–3758.

Study on the Potential Environmental Impacts of Wind Farm Development... Page-20



- Feijoo AE and Cidras J (2000) Modeling of wind farms in the load flow analysis. *Power* Systems, IEEE Transactions on. 15 (1), 110–115.
- FIJN RC, KRIJGSVELD KL and TIJSEN W (2012) Habitat use, disturbance and collision risks for Bewick's Swans Cygnus columbianus bewickii wintering near a wind farm in the Netherlands. *Wildfowl* 62, 97.
- Forcey G (2012) A Habitat-based Wind-Wildlife Collision Model with Application to the Upper Great Plains Region Available at: http://www.osti.gov/bridge/servlets/purl/1049318/.
- Gillespie MK (2013) *Bird and bat responses to wind energy development in Iowa*. Available at: http://lib.dr.iastate.edu/etd/13128/ (accessed 07/07/13).
- Gillespie MK and Dinsmore SJ (2013) Breeding Bird Responses to Wind Turbines in an Agricultural Landscape. *Bird and bat responses to wind energy development in Iowa*, 5.
- Harness RE, Juvvadi PR and Dwyer JF (2013) Avian Electrocutions in Western Rajasthan, India. *Journal of Raptor Research*. 47 (4), 352–364.
- Howe RW, Evans W and Wolf AT (2002) Effects of wind turbines on birds and bats in northeastern Wisconsin. *Wisconsin Public Service Corporation, Madison, Wisconsin.*
- Hull C, Stark E, Peruzzo S and Sims C (2013) Avian collisions at two wind farms in Tasmania, Australia: taxonomic and ecological characteristics of colliders versus non-colliders. *New Zealand Journal of Zoology*. 40 (1), 47–62.
- Hull CL and Muir SC (2013a) Behavior and turbine avoidance rates of eagles at two wind farms in Tasmania, Australia. *Wildlife Society Bulletin*. Available at: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/wsb.254/full (accessed 07/07/13).
- Hull CL and Muir SC (2013b) Behavior and turbine avoidance rates of eagles at two wind farms in Tasmania, Australia. *Wildlife Society Bulletin*. Available at: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/wsb.254/full (accessed 07/07/13).
- Hull CL, Stark EM, Peruzzo S and Sims CC (2013) Avian collisions at two wind farms in Tasmania, Australia: taxonomic and ecological characteristics of colliders versus non-colliders. *New Zealand Journal of Zoology*. 40 (1), 47–62.
- Huso MMP and Dalthorp D (2014) Accounting for unsearched areas in estimating wind turbine-caused fatality. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*. 78 (2), 347–358.
- Janss G and Clave AT (1998) Bird behaviour in and near a wind farm at Tarifa, Spain: Management considerations. In: *Proceedings of National Avian-Wind Power Planning Meeting III, San Diego, California, May.* 110–114.
- Jason W. Horn, Arnett EB and Kunz TH (2008) Behavioral Responses of Bats to Operating Wind Turbines. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*. 72 (1), 123–132.
- Johnson GD, Erickson WP, Strickland MD, Shepherd MF, Shepherd DA and Sarappo SA (2002) Collision mortality of local and migrant birds at a large-scale wind-power development on Buffalo Ridge, Minnesota. *Wildlife Society Bulletin*, 879–887.
- Johnston A, Cook ASCP, Wright LJ, Humphreys EM and Burton NHK (2013) Modelling flight heights of marine birds to more accurately assess collision risk with offshore wind turbines. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, n/a–n/a.
- Van Kooten GC and Timilsina GR (2009) Wind power development: economics and policies. *World Bank Policy Research Working Paper No. 4868*.
- Kunz TH, Arnett EB, Cooper BM, Erickson WP, Larkin RP, Mabee T, Morrison ML, Strickland MD and Szewczak JM (2007) Assessing Impacts of Wind-Energy Development on Nocturnally Active Birds and Bats: A Guidance Document. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*. 71 (8), 2449–2486.

Study on the Potential Environmental Impacts of Wind Farm Development... Page-21



- Kunz TH, Arnett EB, Erickson WP, Hoar AR, Johnson GD, Larkin RP, Strickland MD, Thresher RW and Tuttle MD (2007) Ecological impacts of wind energy development on bats: questions, research needs, and hypotheses. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*. 5 (6), 315–324.
- Kuvlesky WP, Brennan LA, Morrison ML, Boydston KK, Ballard BM and Bryant FC (2007) Wind Energy Development and Wildlife Conservation: Challenges and Opportunities. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*. 71 (8), 2487–2498.
- Leddy KL, Higgins KF and Naugle DE (1999) Effects of Wind Turbines on Upland Nesting Birds in Conservation Reserve Program Grasslands. *The Wilson Bulletin*. 111 (1), 100– 104.
- Longcore T, Rich C, Mineau P, MacDonald B, Bert DG, Sullivan LM, Mutrie E, Gauthreaux SA, Avery ML, Crawford RL, Manville AM, Travis ER and Drake D (2012) An Estimate of Avian Mortality at Communication Towers in the United States and Canada. *PLoS ONE*. 7 (4), e34025.
- Loss SR, Will T and Marra PP (2013) Estimates of bird collision mortality at wind facilities in the contiguous United States. *Biological Conservation*. 168, 201–209.
- De Lucas M, Ferrer M and Janss GF (2012) Using Wind Tunnels to Predict Bird Mortality in Wind Farms: The Case of Griffon Vultures. *PloS one*. 7 (11), e48092.
- McCubbin D and Sovacool BK (2012) Quantifying the health and environmental benefits of wind power to natural gas. *Energy Policy*. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S030142151200969X (accessed 07/07/13).
- Musters CJM, Noordervliet MAW and Keurs WJT (1996) Bird casualties caused by a wind energy project in an estuary.
- Narayan Lakshman (2013) American energy firm fined \$1 million for bird deaths. *The Hindu*. Available at: http://www.thehindu.com/todays-paper/tp-international/american-energy-firm-fined-1-million-for-bird-deaths/article5385099.ece?css=print (accessed 25/11/13).
- Newman SH, Field, H and Epstein J (2011) Investigating the role of bats in emerging zoonoses: Balancing ecology, conservation and public health interest. FAO
- Newton I and Little B (2009) Assessment of wind-farm and other bird casualties from carcasses found on a Northumbrian beach over an 11-year period. *Bird Study*. 56 (2), 158.
- Osborn RG, Dieter CD, Higgins KF and Usgaard RE (1998) Bird flight characteristics near wind turbines in Minnesota. *The American midland naturalist*. 139 (1), 29–38.
- Pande S, Anand Padhye, Pramod Deshpande, Aditya Ponkshe, Pranav Pandit, Amit Pawashe, Shivkumar Pednekar, Rohan Pandit and Prashant Deshpande (2013) Avian collision threat assessment at 'Bhambarwadi Wind Farm Plateau' in northern Western Ghats, India. *Journal of Threatened Taxa*. 5 (1), 3504–3515.
- Paula J, Leal MC, Silva MJ, Mascarenhas R, Costa H and Mascarenhas M (2011) Dogs as a tool to improve bird-strike mortality estimates at wind farms. *Journal for Nature Conservation*. 19 (4), 202–208.
- Pedersen MB and Poulsen E (1991) Impact of a 90 m/2 MW wind turbine on birds. Avian responses to the implementation of the Tjaereborg wind turbine at the Danish Wadden-Sea).
- Percival SM (2003) Birds and Windfarms in Ireland: A review of potential issues and impact assessment. *Consultant Report, Durham, UK*.

Study on the Potential Environmental Impacts of Wind Farm Development... Page-22



- Péron G, Hines JE, Nichols JD, Kendall WL, Peters KA and Mizrahi DS (2013a) Estimation of bird and bat mortality at wind-power farms with superpopulation models. *Journal of Applied Ecology*. Available at: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/1365-2664.12100/full (accessed 07/07/13).
- Péron G, Hines JE, Nichols JD, Kendall WL, Peters KA and Mizrahi DS (2013b) Estimation of bird and bat mortality at wind-power farms with superpopulation models. *Journal of Applied Ecology*. Available at: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/1365-2664.12100/full (accessed 19/06/13).
- Pohekar SD, Soni MS and Ramachandran M (2004) A review of wind energy developments in India. *International journal of global energy issues*. 21 (3), 276–286.
- Reg Platt, Paul Gardner and Oscar Fitch-Roy (2012) *Beyond the bluster: Why wind power is an effective technology* Available at: http://www.ippr.org/images/media/files/publication/2012/08/beyond-the-bluster_Aug2012_9564.pdf.
- Richardson WJ (1998) Bird migration and wind turbines: Migration timing, flight behaviour and collision risk. In: *Proceedings of the National Avian-wind Power Planning Meeting III, San Diego, California.* Available at: http://old.nationalwind.org/publications/wildlife/avian98/avian98.pdf#page=142 (accessed 20/03/14).
- Ruth Lea (2012) *Electricity Costs: The folly of wind-power*. Civitas
- Sagrillo M (2007) Putting Wind Power's Effect on Birds in Perspective. American Wind Energy Association. Retrieved March.
- Seaton R and Barea LP (2013) The New Zealand falcon and wind farms: a risk assessment framework. *New Zealand Journal of Zoology*. 40 (1), 16–27.
- Smallwood KS (2007) Estimating Wind Turbine-Caused Bird Mortality. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*. 71 (8), 2781–2791.
- Smallwood KS and Thelander C (2008) Bird Mortality in the Altamont Pass Wind Resource Area, California. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*. 72 (1), 215–223.
- Sovacool BK (2012) The avian and wildlife costs of fossil fuels and nuclear power. *Journal* of Integrative Environmental Sciences. 9 (4), 255–278.
- Stevens TK, Hale AM, Karsten KB and Bennett VJ (2013) An analysis of displacement from wind turbines in a wintering grassland bird community. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 1–13.
- Subramanian M (2012) The trouble with turbines: An ill wind. Nature. 486 (7403), 310–311.
- Tucker VA (1996) Using a collision model to design safer wind turbine rotors for birds. *Journal of Solar Energy Engineering*. 118, 263.
- Villegas-Patraca R, MacGregor-Fors I, Ortiz-Martínez T, Pérez-Sánchez CE, Herrera-Alsina L and Muñoz-Robles C (2012) Bird-Community Shifts in Relation to Wind Farms: A Case Study Comparing a Wind Farm, Croplands, and Secondary Forests in Southern Mexico. *The Condor*. 114 (4), 711–719.
- Villegas-Patraca R, Macías-Sánchez S, MacGregor-Fors I and Muñoz-Robles C (2012) Scavenger removal: Bird and bat carcass persistence in a tropical wind farm. *Acta Oecologica*. 43, 121–125.